" I 

ur~ 
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE 

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
DIVISION II 

JOSEPH R. AMEDSON, 

Plaintiff/ Appellee, 

and 

PUGET SOUND ELECTRIC COMPANY, a Washington corporation; 
CHARLES W. CLARK and "JANE DOE CLARK" husband and wife, 

both individually and jointly as a marital community; and 
TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY, BOND 

#105336057, 

Defendants/ Appellants, 

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR PIERCE COUNTY 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

THE HONORABLE JERRY T. COSTELLO 

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF 

GORDON & AL VEST AD, PLLC 
7525 Pioneer Way, Ste. 101 
P.O. Box 1189 
Gig Harbor, W A 98335 
Telephone No.: (253) 383-0775 

L. PAUL ALVESTAD 
WSBA#l0892

I. INTRODUCTION 

Judgment was only issued against Travelers Casualty and Surety 

Company Bond #105336057. PSE is a necessary party under RCW 

19.28.07. No separate judgment was entered against PSE. 

PSE is a licensed electrical contractor who has a required $4,000 

bond with Travelers pursuant to RCW 19.28 et seq. Plaintiff hired PSE 

to "rough-in"1 and "trim"2 electrical installations in three spec homes 

he owned. (Clark's Decl. P 2 at 7, et seq.) The "rough-in" work was 

completed and passed inspection around Christmas 2013. (Clark's 

Decl. P 4 at 4, et seq.) A dispute arose and was settled over payment of 

sales tax in April 2014. (Clark's Decl. P 6 at 15, et seq.) Without 

demand or explanation or allegation of wrongdoing, and before PSE 

could start the trim phase, Plaintiff fired PSE, hired three new 

electricians or electrical contractors and incurred additional costs to do 

the trim. (Clark's Decl. P 5 at 9, et seq.) 

1 Basic electrical work before the drywall and installation is installed. 

2 Completion ofthe electrical work including installation of fixtures. 



PSE, its shareholder and Travelers were sued for work that it 

could not perform due to PSE's discharge from the job. The work for 

which Plaintiff complains was to be done during the trim phase. 3 

After PSE answered and a partial exchange of discovery, 

Plaintiff moved for summary judgment against Travelers while naming 

PSE as a necessary party under RCW 19.28.071. Travelers responded 

with factual and unrebutted expert declarations alleging that PSE made 

the proper installations, that PSE was terminated without reason or 

notice and that the alleged defects were matters to be completed in the 

trim phase-which PSE could not complete because it was dismissed. 

(James Declaration) 

PSE (Principal) argued that there could be no liability on the 

surety (Travelers) without a showing that there was a "failure" on the 

Principal's (PSE's) behalf. (Reply P 8 et seq.) In essence, PSE and 

Travelers assert that there was no failure to perform because the work 

of which the Plaintiff complains was to be performed during the trim 

phase-of which PSE was not involved. 

3 At the time of summary judgment, the amount in controversy against PSE and its 
shareholder was in excess of$48,000.00. The Complaint against PSE and its shareholder 
has since then been voluntarily dismissed. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. Assignments of Error. 

1. The trial court erred in entering the order of 

December 12, 2014 (CP 287-292) granting the Plaintiff Amedson 

Summary Judgment against Puget Sound Electric, Inc. and Travelers 

Insurance Company in the amount of Puget Sound Electric's electrical 

contractor's bond .. 

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error. 

1. Was there a material issue of fact on whether 

electrical contractor PSE "failed" to meet electrical standards within the 

meaning ofRCW 19.28.41 when its contract was prematurely terminated 

by Plaintiffbefore PSE could fully perform? [Assignment ofError 1]. 4 

2. Whether Defendant Travelers should be required to 

remit the amount of the surety bond absent a showing of failure by its 

principal, PSE. [Assignment of Error 1]. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In November, 2012, PSE entered into three contracts to "rough-

in" and "trim" electrical service on three homes owned by Plaintiff. (CP 

4 The statement of case is largely from the Declarations of Clark (CP149-192) and 
expert Mark James (CP 193-199). The specific Assignment of Error relates to finding 
that PSE ["failed"] to comply with the strict requests of the applicable laws (CP 289:27-
29 and CP 290:18-24) and that Plaintiffwas damaged thereby (CP 290:25-29). 
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72-825 The owner/contractor said that this was a rush project and wanted 

PSE to complete the rough-in by Christmas. (CP 150:7-11) 

In broad terms, "rough-in" means electrical work on everything to 

be covered by surfaces-principally drywall (e.g. wire, plug boxes). 

"Trim" work involves everything installed outside of the drywall (e.g. 

light fixtures, outlets, light switches) and all that is seen by the 

homeowner. Regulations determine the number of circuits that go in 

residential housing and in this case one circuit per 500 square feet with 

certain exceptions such as the kitchen, washer dryer, hot tub, heat pump, 

etc. There are literally hundreds and perhaps thousands of ways the 

rough-in work can be completed all of which are consistent with industry 

standards and regulations. It therefore is important for the rough-in 

electrical contractor to also do the trim work. (CP 150:12-20) 

When the electrical contractor completes his rough-in, he has it 

inspected by Washington State Department of Labor and Industries 

("L&I") and upon approval, the owner/contractor has permission to 

insulate, cover the walls with drywall and paint them. On average, it 

takes six to eight weeks to drywall, tape, mud, texture and paint a home 

5 The contracts each require payment of attorney's fees. If remanded to Superior Court, 
the substantial prevailing party could be entitled to an award of attorneys fees per 
contractor or other principals. "Any and all collection and attorneys fees will be paid by 
my homeowner." (CP 81) 
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of this size. The owner/contractor then contacts the electrical contractor 

to complete his job with the trim phase. He installs the light fixtures, 

outlets and light switches, turns on power, troubleshoots and makes any 

corrections needed and then calls L&I to do a final inspection. The 

electrical contractor's job is not complete until the electrical contractor 

has everything working properly at the trim phase. Urifinished items 

from the rough-in stage, if any, are corrected at that point. (CP 150:21 

and CP 151:7) 

The trim work is always done by the same electrical contractor 

who does the rough-in because he is the most familiar with the way the 

rough-in work was done. This is essential because issues inevitably arise 

during the trim in phase. Sometimes issues arise from changes made or 

damage caused by the contractor or the drywall subcontractor and 

sometimes the matters simply are not fully completed during the rough-in 

stage. (CP 151:8-15) 

Because the rough-in electrical contractor is familiar with the 

system, incomplete items can quickly be fixed during the trim stage. It 

would be immensely more difficult for a new trim electrical contractor to 

take over at this point because he is not familiar with the system behind 

the drywall. For instance, electrical runs (called a "Home Run") extend 

from the electrical panel (the box containing circuit breakers) to a plug or 
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switch box and then branch from that point. Almost any plug or switch 

box can be the terminus of the Home Run. If the trim contractor is not 

aware of where the Home Run termini are, it is very difficult and almost 

impossible to troubleshoot or correct any incomplete items. (CP 151:16 

to 152:2) 

The contracts were entered into on November 28, 2012 with 

hopes and instructions to get the project roughed in by Christmas. It then 

would take 6-8 weeks to complete the drywall, texturing and painting, 

and then dry so that the electrical trim could be completed. The L&I 

rough-in inspection occurred on December 28, 2012 and passed as 

reflected in Exhibits 8(a),(b) and (c). (CP 152:4-8) 

Greg Harris was the L&I inspector who passed the inspection in 

December, 2012. He also is Plaintiffs "expert" witness. It was he who 

gave the go ahead to install drywall, texture and paint. If there was a 

problem with the way the structures were wired, he would have made that 

observation when the rough-in inspection took place. He made no such 

observations. The court should note that Greg Harris carefully parsed his 

words in his declaration (CP 110-112) and has not in his declaration 

concluded that the alleged deficiencies existed on this job site. He only 

testifies that the items mentioned in the attached declaration by SIRE (CP 

60-70) would be out of compliance if true-but he does not say at what 
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stage (rough-in or trim) they would be out of compliance. He also does 

not indicate that he knew that there were two previous contractors on the 

job who performed the work. PSE noted in its declaration that GFI 

("ground fault indicator") outlets were missing. But, as it noted in PSE's 

declaration those always are installed during the trim phase. (CP 152:9-

18 - emphasis added) 

Following PSE's rough-in completion in late December, 2012, the 

project was stalled for several months due to water intrusion, contractor 

and subcontractor delays and other matters outside ofPSE's control. The 

delay was surprising given the urgency expressed by Plaintiff to complete 

the rough-in by Christmas. (CP 152:19-22) 

After the rough-in passed inspection Plaintiff did a walk through 

and provided PSE with a punch list (Exhibit 11). Unfortunately, with the 

exception of nail plates (discussed later) the items were not included in 

the contract and PSE declined to do them for free. (CP 153:1-3) 

While this caused some concern with the Plaintiff, he still asked 

PSE to perform extra work which PSE agreed to do for an additional sum 

and those items are not in dispute. Those items included wiring of a heat 

pump, phone and speaker wire, electric monitors for heat pump. For an 

additional fee which also is not in dispute, PSE installed the TV, phone 

and speaker for Lot 2. (CP 153:4-8) 
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While doing the additional work, PSE added a few additional nail 

plates as requested by Plaintiff and at that point was not told, (and 

therefore formed the belief) that there were no additional issues with 

PSE' s work. During this time, PSE noticed that someone else was doing 

electrical work on the project. PSE was the only electrical contractor on 

the job and confronted Plaintiff about it. He said that he had "his 

electrician" do it. PSE later learned that that electrician was the 

electrician for the house on Lot No. 1. (Lot 1 was not wired by a licensed 

electrical contractor and the Plaintiff was cited by L&I inspector Greg 

Harris for having illegally wired the house.) (CP 153:9-16) 

Drywall then was installed and PSE received updated reports from 

the Plaintiff on when PSE should start on the trim work. There were no 

complaints and therefore PSE formed the belief that Plaintiff was 

satisfied with the first stage ofthe work. (CP 153:17-19) 

A dispute arose over payment of sales tax that was resolved. 

During the dispute Plaintiff's attorney sent an April 12, 2013 letter (CP 

185-188) that is significant because it a) mentions nothing of the quality 

of the work PSE performed (pages 1 and 2); b) invites PSE to meet and 

discuss matters relative to completion and finalization of the trim work 

(page 3); and 3) indicates that " ... There is not that much remaining to be 

done in order to complete the express agreed scope of work for each of 
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the new homes pursuant to your written Contracts for Lots 2, 3 and 4." 

PSE met with Plaintiff on April 17, 2013 gave him a bill for the sales tax 

(Exhibit 19(b)) which he acknowledged with his signature and (as 

previously discussed) Plaintiff PSE considered the minor disagreement 

over the timing of payment of sales tax resolved, and then waited for 

notice on when the trim work would be required. (CP 153:20 to 155:20) 

At a point in late April 2013, PSE received a call from Plaintiff 

who wanted to come by Charlie Clark's (PSE's shareholder) house to 

pick up exhaust fan covers that PSE acquired to do the trim work. After 

Clark gave it to him, and without explanation, Plaintiff said that he no 

longer required PSE' s services and drove off. While disappointed with 

the loss of work and future payment of an additional $2,000 per house, 

his words led PSE to believe that he would use someone else for the job 

and that PSE was relieved of further responsibility. In that conversation 

PSE was not told of any dissatisfaction with its work nor why PSE was 

being dismissed. PSE expected to make about $3,000 of profit from the 

trim work. (CP 155:3-10) 

Clark's declaration indicated that he reviewed Plaintiffs 

supporting declarations as to quality of work. He could not determine the 

extent of nor whether the alleged deficiencies (incomplete work) are 

attributable to PSE or the one unlicensed and two other licensed other 
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contractors on site. But Clark testified that a) the items of which Plaintiff 

complains are common items to be completed during the trim phase-in 

other words, Plaintiffs concerns were of items which: a) can only be 

completed during the trim phase; b) PSE would have been able to easily 

complete those matters during the trim stage, and c) if not caused by any 

other contractor, would have been completed by PSE during the trim 

phase according to contractual terms. PSE did not do the work however, 

because PSE was taken off of the job without explanation. (CP 155:11-

18) 

Finally, PSE noted that it did "all rough-in work properly and 

anything else would have been completed in the trim phase. " (CP 

15 6:15-16- emphasis added) 

PSE then produced the expert testimony of Mark James, a 

licensed electrical contractor, member of the International Brotherhood of 

Electrical Workers Local 76, and an instructor at Pierce College in 

connection with the Southwest Washington Joint Apprentice Training 

Center for electrical contractors who are familiar with electrical 

regulations and industry standards. (CP 194:1-8) 

Mr. James reviewed the contracts appended to Plaintiffs 

complaint and noted that PSE's work was to be done in two phases, 

"Rough-in" and "Trim" work. Each such phase is inspected by a state 
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electrical inspector--in Washington-the Department of Labor and 

Industries or "L&I." (CP 194:9-14) 

When an electrician completes his rough-in, he tests it, corrects 

problems, and if it passes his own internal inspection, he calls L&I to 

inspect. Any problems brought to the attention of the electrician by the 

inspector then are corrected, the site is reinspected and an inspection 

report is issued. (CP 194:15-18) 

One important thing to note is that there are many ways (perhaps 

hundreds or thousands) to rough-in the wiring of a house which are 

consistent with industry standards and state regulations. It usually takes 

six to eight weeks to install surfaces and otherwise prepare the site for 

electrical trim-work. When ready, the general contractor contacts the 

electrician who then proceeds with the trim work. Upon completion, the 

system then is tested by the electrician, corrections are made, and the L&l 

inspector is called to do a final inspection. (CP 194:19 to 195:4) 

The trim work always should be done by the same electrician who 

does the rough-in because he is the most familiar with the way the rough

in occurred. This is important because inevitably issues arise during the 

trim phase. Sometimes those issues arise from changes made or damage 

caused by the contractor or his drywall subcontractors between the rough

in and trim phases. Because he is familiar with the system, problems can 
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quickly be fixed. It would be immensely more difficult for a new trim 

electrician to take over at this point because he will not be familiar with 

what the system was like behind the dry wall. (CP 195:5-11) 

An electrical contract will include both rough-in and drywall 

components which are performed by the same person as it will be less 

expensive to the general contractor and eventually the homebuyer. If 

there is more than one electrical contractor involved in either the rough-in 

or trim stages, problems and expense that can arise from the electrical 

wiring expand exponentially because the electrical contractor who 

finishes the contract now has to try to understand the wiring protocol of 

one or more of the electrical contractors. The more previous electricians 

and contractors, the more difficult it is to complete the final trim work. 

(CP 195:5-18) 

James reviewed Plaintiffs supporting declarations. He noted that 

Greg Harris was only testifYing about what regulations require. He noted 

that Harris was not testifYing on whether the work was or was not done 

and did not comment on whether the work should have been done in the 

rough-in or dry wall phase, nor does he comment on what items were to 

be installed in the home, nor does he distinguish between work done by 

various contractors and electricians who worked on the job after PSE. 

(CP 195:19 to 196:3) 
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James also noted that the defective items alleged by SIRB are 

items which were to be completed or would be easily corrected during the 

trim work phase. Those corrections would most easily be done by the 

electrician who did the rough-in work. But even an electrician who is not 

involved in the rough-in could, with some degree of difficulty fix the 

problems which are noted with basic troubleshooting techniques of which 

every educated electrician should be aware. (CP 196:4-12 -emphasis 

added) 

He also noted that there was breakdown in the declaration on who 

did or did not do the work if there was more than one previous electrical 

contractor on the project as is set forth in Amedson's declaration. If there 

were problems, there is no way to ascertain from his declaration whether 

PSE caused those problems or another contractor did. (CP 196:9-12) 

The SIRB declaration makes reference to the electrical load. It 

does not take into account the difference between residential and 

commercial projects. Generally, a commercial project requires an 

electrical panel which could accommodate all of the circuits if all on at 

once. In a residential project, assumptions are made that all circuits will 

not be on at one time. (CP 196:13-16) 

James also noted that the alleged defective items all are common 

issues, commonly corrected during the trim phase. None of the allegedly 
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defective items could not be addressed by a qualified electrical contractor 

who performed the rough-in phase. (CP 196: 17-20) 

James stated: "In conclusion, it is my educated opinion that even 

the work described in the SIRB and Harris declarations were either to be 

done during the trim phase or would easily be completed during the trim 

phase by the electrician who did the rough-in work. It also is my 

educated and experienced opinion that correction of those items would be 

much more difficult for one who did not do the rough-in work. And it 

also is my educated and experienced opinion that correction of those 

alleged problems would be even more difficult if more than one electrical 

contractor was involved before the participation of the final electrical 

contractor. It is also my opinion that based upon the declarations of 

Amedson, SIRB and the electrical inspector, it is unclear who, if anyone, 

caused the alleged problems if more than one electrical contractor was 

involved. And it is my further opinion that if the issues noted by SIRB 

and Harris are an exhaustive list of all the alleged problems with electrical 

problems in the homes, that based upon my special knowledge, 

experience, training and education, they are well within the range of the 

work quality typically found on a residential job site and would easily be 

completed or corrected during the trim phase by the electrician who did 

the rough-in work." (CP 197:1-15) 
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A. Standard of Review for Summary Judgment. 

An appellate court reviews an order of summary judgment de 

novo, performing the same inquiry as the trial court. Jones v. Allstate Ins. 

Co., 146 Wn.2d 291, 300, 45 P.3d 1068 (2002). It considers "the facts and 

the inferences from the facts in a light most favorable to the non moving 

party." Jones, 146 Wn.2d at 300. 

Summary judgment is appropriate where "the pleadings, affidavits, 

and depositions establish that there is no genuine issue of material fact and 

that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Jones, 

146 Wn.2d at 300-01; CR 56(c). It is only appropriate where reasonable 

minds could reach but one conclusion. Ruffv. King County, 125 Wn.2d 

697, 887 P.2d 886 (1995). "A material fact is one upon which the 

outcome of the litigation depends." Balise v. Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195, 

199,_381 P.2d 966 (1963). The initial burden is on the moving party to 

show there is no issue of material fact. Young v. Key Pharm., Inc., 112 

Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). If the moving party meets this 

initial burden, then "[t]he non-moving party must set forth specific facts 

showing a genuine issue of material fact and cannot rest on mere 

allegations." Baldwin v. Sisters of Providence in Wash., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 

127, 132, 769 P.2d 298 (1989); CR 56(e). Only where the non-moving 

party fails to present such evidence is summary judgment proper. 

15 



Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400, 154 Wn.2d 16, 26, 109 

p .3d 805 (2005). 

IV. ARGUMENT 

The summary judgment imposed liability upon the surety and not 

the principal. The bond upon which Plaintiff seeks to recover reads in 

pertinent part as follows:

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