JOSEPH R. AMEDSON, RESPONDENT,

v.

PUGET SOUND ELECTRIC COMPANY, a Washington corporation; and TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY COMPANY, BOND # 105336057,

APPELLANTS.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT JOSEPH R. AMEDSON

RHYS A. STERLING, P.E., J.D. By: Rhys A. Sterling, #13846 Attorney for Respondent Joseph R. Amedson

P.O. Box 218 Hobart, Washington 98025-0218 Telephone: 425-432-9348 Facsimile: 425-413-2455

Email: RhysHobart@hotmail.com

ORIGINAL

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

VI. ARGUMENT AND DISCUSSION

Amedson's claim and this appeal deal exclusively with a statutorily-required bond and enforcement thereof under statutory strict liability. Admitted by the Appellants and as found and concluded by the Superior Court, Chapter 19.28 RCW is a strict liability statute to enforce a statutory bond.

THE COURT: Do you agree with Plaintiff's contention that the ... it's a strict liability standard?

MR. ALVESTAD: It's a strict liability standard with respect to whether or not there was a failure.

THE COURT: Understood. So if there's a failure to comply with the appropriate code, and if that's proven, then whether or not this is negligent conduct doesn't matter. It doesn't matter if it's a breach of contract. The issue is, is there compliance with the code?

MR. ALVESTAD: I hadn't thought about it that way, but I think that that's probably the case.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT -- PAGE 10 OF 18

_

¹⁹ Ralph v. Department of Natural Resources, 182 Wn.2d 242, 248, 343 P.3d 342 (2014).

²⁰ Association of Washington Spirits & Wine Distributors v. Washington State Liquor Control Board, 182 Wn.2d 342, 350, 340 P.3d 849 (2015).

²¹ Where the legislature has not defined a particular term or word in a statute, a standard dictionary definition controls. *State v. Watson*, 146 Wn.2d 947, 954, 51 P.3d 66 (2002).

Report of Proceedings (RP), at p.11, lines 15-25.22

Although Appellants admit that PSEC had completed the "rough-in" electrical installation, ²³ they continued to argue, as their one and only argument against Summary Judgment and Amedson's action against the Bond, that this was really a contractual matter and they were somehow legally entitled to continue to work in the new homes to try to correct all PSEC's defective and deficient electrical work until they perchance corrected their failed strict compliance with the requirements of Chapter 19.28 RCW, including the 2008 NEC.

THE COURT: Okay. But you are saying as a matter of law really I – it seems to me that what you are arguing is that as a matter of law an action cannot be brought on the bond until all of the work is complete.

MR. ALVESTAD: An action cannot be brought on the bond until there is certainty that the work hasn't been completed, and the contract requires that that work be completed at the end of the trim phase, not at the end of the rough in phase. That's the essence of my client's declaration, and it's also the essence of what my expert says. There is an issue of fact then, I believe, for summary judgment under the summary judgment standard on whether or not and when that work was supposed to be done. And if it was supposed to be done at the end of the trim phase or it would have been remedied at the end of the trim phase, then that is a – that's perhaps a question of fact. I don't think it is because I think that's very clear, but that's a question of fact on whether the contract required that all of these things be done at the end of the trim phase. Plus, it's an issue of fact on whether or not these things could have even been done at the end of the rough in phase because there was a –.

2

²² Verbatim Transcript of Proceedings, Summary Judgment (November 14, 2014).

²³ "THE COURT: But didn't they state that services were complete no later than April 17, 2013? MR. ALVESTAD: The rough in. The rough in was done." RP, at 12, lines 8-11.

THE COURT: But this is not an action on the contract. This is an action contending that the work that was done was done not in accordance with the code.

RP, at p. 8, lines 12-25, and at p. 9, lines 1-12.

Appellants continue to pursue their only argument against Summary Judgment in this appeal, contending that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether an action on the Bond can only be brought at the completion of the entire underlying contract, rather than at the completion of any of the electrical work installed at the time such contract is mutually brought to a conclusion. Contrary to Appellants' contention, this matter is resolved as an issue of law, not under any contractual relationship but, because an action on the statutorily-required Bond is purely statutory, solely under and pursuant to the provisions and requirements of Chapter 19.28 RCW.

A. Chapter 19.28 RCW Imposes A Strict Liability Standard In Actions Brought Against An Electrical Contractor's Bond Applicable To The Act Of Installing Any Electrical Wiring And Equipment That Does Not Strictly Conform With All Requirements Of Chapter 19.28 RCW, Including The 2008 NEC

The electrical installation work performed by PSEC was under, pursuant to, and in accordance with its licensure as an Electrical Contractor by the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries (RCW 19.28.041 (1); LNI License # PUGETSE902KK). CP, at 221. Pursuant to the requirements of RCW 19.28.041(3), "the application for an electrical contractor license shall be accompanied by a bond in the sum of four thousand dollars" Here, the required Bond for all relevant purposes of PSEC's electrical BRIEF OF RESPONDENT -- PAGE 12 OF 18

contractor's license was issued by Travelers, Bond # 105336057, with PSEC as principal and the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries as obligee. CP, at 118-23.²⁴ An action against the Electrical Contractor's Bond is brought under and pursuant to the following statute:²⁵

Any person, firm, or corporation sustaining any damage or injury by reason of the principal's breach of the conditions of the bond required under RCW 19.28.041 may bring an action against the surety named therein, joining in the action the principal named in the bond; the action shall be brought in the superior court of any county in which the principal on the bond resides or transacts business, or in the county in which the work was performed as a result of which the breach is alleged to have occurred; the action shall be maintained and prosecuted as other civil actions. Claims or actions against the surety on the bond shall be paid in full in the following order of priority: (1) Labor, including employee benefits, (2) materials and equipment used upon such work, (3) taxes and contributions due to the state, (4) damages sustained by any person, firm or corporation due to the failure of the principal to make the installation in accordance with the provisions of chapter 19.28 RCW, or any ordinance, building code, or regulation applicable thereto.

RCW 19.28.071. The mandatory statutory conditions covered by the Travelers Bond are as follows:

The bond shall be conditioned that in any installation or maintenance of wires or equipment to convey electrical current, and

²⁴ This in itself is a significant difference between a statutorily-required Electrical Contractor's Bond and a contract performance bond that seems to be the focus of Appellants' Main Brief and case citations. A performance bond ensures completion of a contract and work yet to be performed; whereas the Bond in our case is intended to ensure that the contractor, at a minimum by and through its bond, pays any person for damages (at least up to \$4,000) sustained by the failure of any electrical wiring and equipment it installs to strictly conform and comply with all requirements of Chapter 19.28 RCW, including the 2008 NEC.

²⁵ The Court is asked to take judicial notice of the relevant statutes and regulations of the State of Washington. ER 201. See also RCW 5.24.010 (judicial notice of State statutes); and RCW 34.05.210(9) (formal rules promulgated and published by State administrative agencies and codified in the WAC).

equipment to be operated by electrical current, the principal will comply with the provisions of this chapter and with any electrical ordinance, building code, or regulation of a city or town adopted pursuant to RCW 19.28.010(3) that is in effect at the time of entering into a contract. . . . The bond shall be conditioned further that the principal will pay for all . . . damages that may be sustained by any person . . . due to a failure of the principal to make the installation or maintenance in accordance with this chapter

RCW 19.28.041(3) (emphasis added).²⁶

A relevant and mandatory *provision of this chapter* applicable to PSEC's installing of any electric wiring and equipment/components in each of the new homes on Lots 2, 3, and 4 is the following:

All wires and equipment, and installations thereof, that convey electric current . . . shall be in strict conformity with this chapter, the statutes of the state of Washington, and the rules issued by the department, and shall be in conformity with approved methods of construction for safety to life and property. . . . The regulations and articles in the National Electrical Code, the national electrical safety code, and other installation and safety regulations approved by the national fire protection association, as modified or supplemented by rules issued by the department in furtherance of safety to life an property under authority hereby granted, shall be prima facie evidence of the approved methods of construction.

RCW 19.28.010(1) (emphasis added). The relevant *regulations and articles* in the National Electric Code applicable at the time the contracts were entered into between Amedson and PSEC in November 2012 were set forth in the 2008 National Electric Code (2008 NEC). See CP, at 111 ¶ 5 (re: relevant WAC 296-46B-010(1) in effect during the period from 2008-2014).

²⁶ Notable is that all conditions of the Bond must be consistent with the requirements set forth in Chapter 19.28 RCW, as any "contractual provisions which conflict with the terms of a legislative enactment are illegal and unenforceable." *Machen, Inc. v. Aircraft Design, Inc.*, 65 Wn. App. 319, 333, 828 P.2d 73, review denied, 120 Wn.2d 1007 (1992).

In the context of Chapter 19.28 RCW, the word "failure" means "failure of duty or obligation . .; deficiency; want, or lack; inefficiency as measured by some legal standard." The word "installation" is generally defined as meaning "the act of installing . . .; the fact of being installed." Webster's, at p. 698. Moreover, the phrase "a failure" as used in RCW 19.28.041(3) connotes "any" failure to strictly conform with statutory requirements. Black's Law Dictionary, at p. 1. Thus, 'a failure . . . to make the installation' should fairly be read to mean a deficiency or want of strict conformity in the act of, or during, any installing of electric wiring and equipment as measured by the relevant legal standards of Chapter 19.28 RCW, including the 2008 NEC. There is no prerequisite to prove any breach of contract or negligent conduct under the statutory strict liability of Chapter 19.28 RCW.

²⁷ Black's Law Dictionary, at p. 534 (5th ed. 1979). It is also generally defined to mean "an act or instance of failing . . .; nonperformance of something . . . required." Webster's College Dictionary, at p. 478 (Random House 1995).

²⁸ Also as generally understood and used, "an installing or being installed." Webster's New World Dictionary, at p. 757 (College ed. 1966). And the phrase "any installation" in RCW 19.28.041(3) means "all or every" act of installing. Black's Law Dictionary, at p. 86.

the Superior Court, CP, at 290 ¶¶ 1 and 2, Chapter 19.28 RCW creates a strict liability standard in actions against an Electrical Contractor's Bond. "[Strict liability] statutes impose liability without regard to fault in the sense of any wrongful intent or negligent conduct [or breach of any contract]. They represent an extension of liability for losses resulting from tortious conduct on the part of those engaged in businesses requiring strict regulation and control in order to insure the welfare and safety of the public. Strict liability is justified on the theory that such business or activity can best bear the loss occasioned by a violation of law regulating the business or activity, even though the violation was unintentional or did not involve any deviation from the standard of due care." Dahl v. Northwestern National Bank of Minneapolis, 121 N.W.2d 321, 324 (Minn. 1963) (personal injuries sustained as a result of an illegal sale of liquor). Strict liability arises where a statute that contains an express liability provision is violated. See, e.g., Klein v. Pyrodyne Corporation, 117 Wn.2d 1, 12-13, 810 P.2d 917 (1991) (finding statutory strict liability on pyrotechnicians for damages (continued...)

B. There Is No Provision In Or Condition Of Chapter 19.28 RCW That Can Fairly Be Read To Require Amedson To Wait Until The Underlying Contract With PSEC Has Been Completed To Bring An Action On The Bond Where Under The Circumstances The Electrical Services Provided By PSEC Have Been Confirmed By It To Be Complete And The Underlying Contract Has Been Mutually Concluded Without PSEC Raising Any Objections, Reservations, Limitations, Exceptions, Or Conditions Whatsoever

Contrary to Appellants' principle contention and issue in their appeal, there is nothing in Chapter 19.28 RCW that can fairly be read to require Amedson to wait until the underlying contract with PSEC has been completed, or opportunities given to correct defects and deficiencies in strictly conforming to the requirements of Chapter 19.28 RCW and the 2008 NEC, to bring an action on the Bond where, under the circumstances in our case, the electrical services provided by PSEC have been confirmed by it to be complete and the underlying contract has been mutually concluded, without PSEC raising any objections, reservations, or conditions whatsoever. CP, at 93; APP, at 11. This is consistent with the Superior Court's conclusion that:

I don't think reasonable minds can differ on the facts here. And I don't believe that the law requires the Plaintiff to wait to bring an action on this bond.

RP, at p. 16, lines 21-24. See also CP, at pp. 290-91 ¶¶ 3-5. The statutory language of Chapter 19.28 RCW clearly mandates that (1) electrical contrac-

²⁹(...continued)

caused by fireworks displays); Hansen v. Sipe, 34 Wn. App. 888, 890, 664 P.2d 1295 (1983) (liability of owner for dog bites); Albrecht v. Groat, 91 Wn.2d 257, 259, 588 P.2d 229 (1978) (liability of common carrier).

tors must, as a prerequisite to doing business as a licensee in Washington, obtain and maintain a bond in the amount of \$4,000; and (2) the bond covers and pays for all damages resulting from an electrical contractor's work on electrical systems that fails to fully and strictly conform and comply with all applicable State laws and regulations, including and not limited to the 2008 NEC, regardless of whether those damages were caused by the negligence of or breach of contract by the electrical contractor. Thus, in answer to Appellants' principle issue raised in their appeal, breach of contract neither must be alleged nor proven in order for Amedson to recover against the Bond, and Amedson is not required to give PSEC opportunities to correct its deficient and defective electrical work and wait until the completion of the underlying contract under circumstances where PSEC confirmed that its contractual services were complete and the underlying contract has been mutually concluded, without PSEC raising any objections, reservations, limitations, exceptions, or conditions whatsoever.

Accordingly, the preponderance of competent evidence shows that there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding PSEC's failure to install the rough-in electrical wiring and equipment in strict conformity with the requirements of Chapter 19.28 RCW, including the 2008 NEC; therefore, judgment against Travelers Bond # 105336057 was appropriately granted by Summary Judgment as a matter of law under the statutory strict liability of Chapter 19.28 RCW. *See* CP, at pp. 289-90 ¶¶ A-H (Findings of Fact); CP, at 290-91 ¶¶ 1-5 (Conclusions of Law); CP, at p. 291 ¶¶ A and B (Order).

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT -- PAGE 17 OF 18

VII. CONCLUSIONS

Based on the foregoing and under and pursuant to the statutory strict liability provisions of Chapter 19.28 RCW, Judgment and the Order of Summary Judgment against Travelers Bond #105336057 was appropriately granted as a matter of law by the Superior Court.

Respondent Joseph Amedson respectfully asks this Court to deny Appellants' appeal and affirm the Superior Court's grant of Judgment and Order of Summary Judgment in his favor against the Travelers Bond # 105336057 in an amount equal to \$ 4,000.